Investigation of PFOA Enrichment Mechanisms in

Sea Spray Aerosol Proxy Surfaces and Potential Health Implications

Honors Research Thesis

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Graduation "with Honors Research Distinction in Public Health" in the undergraduate colleges at The Ohio State University

By

Michelle Fiamingo

The Ohio State University

April 2020

Project Advisors: Dr. Heather Allen, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry and Dr. Susan

Olivo-Marston, College of Public Health

ABSTRACT

Perfluoroalkyl substances are man-made chemicals that have been widely used in industrial processes and military operations since World War II. While the exact toxicology of these substances has not been deciphered, perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) has been linked to liver, kidney, and testicular cancer, as well as hypertension and low birth weight in children. Additionally, PFOA is persistent in the environment and is transported globally, as it is enriched in sea spray aerosol (SSA) particles over the Arctic Ocean. We aim to characterize the surface activity of PFOA at SSA proxy surfaces to better understand the pollutant enrichment in SSA particles. Surface tensiometry and infrared reflection-absorption spectroscopy are used to determine the surface adsorption constants via fitting to the Langmuir-Szyswkoski equation. PFOA exhibits enhanced surface activity in the presence of seawater cations in the low concentration regime, and decreased surface activity in the high PFOA concentration regime. It is speculated that the critical micelle concentration of PFOA is changing in response to the addition of seawater cations. Further study is underway to characterize the interfacial packing structure of the surfactant monolayer and the effect that the seawater cations have on the 2dimensional arrangement of the PFOA molecules at the air-water interface. Future studies involve determining the impacts of dissolved organic compounds on the interfacial activity of PFOA at SSA proxy surfaces.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Kimberly Carter-Fenk for her guidance and support throughout this project and my research career, as well as her assistance in designing the experiments and analyzing the data. I would also like to thank the Allen Lab for providing support and ideas for this project and Dr. Heather Allen for providing me with the opportunity to pursue my research interests and for encouraging me to continue to seek out a career in research. Lastly, I would like to thank the College of Public Health, the College of Arts and Sciences and the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry for the financial support of this project.

PUBLICATIONS

Ting Zhang, Michelle Fiamingo, Heather C. Allen, Trace Metal Enrichment driven by Phosphate Functional Group Binding Selectivity, JGR-Oceans (2018) DOI 10.1029/2018JC013926.

Table of Contents

Abstract1
Chapter 1: Background and Introduction5
1.1 Sea Spray Aerosols6
1.2 Surfactant Enrichment in Sea Spray Aerosols7
1.3 Perfluoroalkyl substances as surfactants7
1.3.1 Environmental Persistence7
1.3.2 Physical and Chemical Properties8
1.4 Global Transport of Perfluoroalkyl substances via Sea Spray Aerosols9
1.5 Objectives and Specific Aims11
Chapter 2: Experimental Design13
2.1 Solution Preparation13
2.2 Surface Tension Measurements14
2.3 Infrared Reflection Absorption Spectroscopy15
Chapter 3: Results and Discussion17
3.1 Surface Tension Measurements of PFOA Adsorption17
3.2 IRRAS of PFOA Adsorption at Proxy SSA Surfaces20
3.3 Langmuir- Szyszkowski Adsorption Modeling27
Chapter 4: Public Health Implications29
4.1 Overview of Health Effects

4.2 Perfluoroalkyl Substances Effects on Human Health	29
4.3 Routes of Exposure	32
4.4 Aerosolization of Perfluoroalkyl substances effect on lung function	33
Chapter 5: Conclusion and Future Work	35
5.1 Conclusion	35
5.2 Future Directions	36
Chapter 6: References	37

Chapter 1: Background and Introduction

1.1 Sea Spray Aerosols

The sea-surface microlayer (SSML) is an important interface to study biological, chemical, and physical phenomena as it relates to oceanic life, stability, and climate parameters (Figure 1). The biological and chemical makeup of the SSML is diverse and relatively understudied; however, it is known that bacterioneustons and phytoneustons are the most abundant organisms at the SSML.¹ Moreover, the SSML is enriched with organic matter derived from marine microbiota in the water column.² Surface active organic matter can partition to the air-water interface via bubble entrainment. The SSML has been described as a "gel," with a diverse range of particles, including microorganisms, organic matter, protein-like polymers, transparent exopolymeric particles, and polysaccharides.¹ Chemicals and biomolecules that are present in the SSML are then transported into the atmosphere through the production of sea spray aerosols (SSA).



Figure 1: Characterization of the sea surface microlayer chemical composition and physical properties are imperative to understanding the production mechanisms, composition, and climate impacts of sea spray aerosol. (Reproduced from reference 1 - Published by Frontiers in Marine Science).

The chemical composition of SSA is driven by both the oceanic biota and the aerosol production mechanism at the SSML. SSA are formed through a process known as wavebreaking, wherein a wave crashes into the SSML and releases small aerosol particles, either film drops or jet drops, into the atmosphere (Figure 2).³ A jet drop is formed during the bursting of a bubble at the surface, and when the water jet collapse and fragments, film drops are created.^{4,5} The chemical and biological composition of SSA is highly heterogenous and the impact of ocean biology on the chemical composition of SSA is still an ongoing area of research.



Figure 2: Schematic of wave-breaking that leads to bubble bursting and the creation of SSA. (Reproduced from Reference 6 - Published by the European Geosciences Union).

1.2 Surfactant Enrichment in Sea Spray Aerosols

At the SSML, there is a preferential enrichment of surfactants driven by the intermolecular interactions of amphiphilic molecules at the air-water interface.⁶ When SSA are formed from bubbles that become entrained in the water column and rise into the SSML, the SSA particles are enriched with surfactants and other molecules found at the air-sea interface.⁶ The enrichment of surfactants in SSA are associated with the size of the aerosol particle, of which smaller aerosol particles experience higher amounts of enrichment.⁷ While SSA is mainly composed of organic matter derived from marine biological and chemical processes, anthropogenic chemicals, such as linear alkyl sulfates used in cleaning processes, are found to be present and enriched in SSA.⁸ These anthropogenic pollutants enter the ocean via water runoff.

1.3 Perfluoroalkyl substances as surfactants

1.3.1 Environmental persistence

Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) have been used widely throughout consumer products and industries across the world for decades. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) launched the Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) Stewardship Program in 2006 to reduce the

amount of PFOA environmental emissions by 95% in the year 2015 due to concerns of the chemicals affect on human health.⁹ Consequently, perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) was phased out of some industrial production in the early 2000's; however, it is still widely used in several industrial and commercial processes, such as in flame-retardants for aviation and in some photography and film products.¹⁰ Some derivatives of PFAS can also degrade into PFOA and perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS), showing that the continued use of any PFAS compound in industrial processes might still pose a significant risk to the health of those exposed.¹¹ Moreover, a study from 2016 found that water supplies for over 6 million American residents were contaminated with PFOA and PFOS at a concentration that exceeded the EPA's health advisory limit of 70 parts per trillion, thus showing the persistent health risks caused by the continued use of these compounds.¹⁰ PFOA and PFOS are highly resilient compounds that do not degrade naturally in the environment; thus even though production of these chemicals has declined or halted altogether, their presence is still concentrated in the areas that it was produced or dumped as waste.^{12,13} PFAS also are able to bioaccumulate in organisms through a variety of mechanisms, including partitioning to proteins in the blood plasma, and the environmental persistence of the chemicals allow for them to be magnified at different tropic levels within an aquatic ecosystem.¹⁴ Due to the environmental persistence of PFAS, the EPA created the PFOA Stewardship Program, the Stockholm Convention classified PFOA and PFOS as persistent organic pollutants, and Canada has worked to eliminate the production of these chemicals in the country.¹⁵

1.3.2 Physical and Chemical Properties

The chemical structure of PFAS was at first important to industries because of its hydrophobic and oleophobic properties, allowing the chemical to repel both water and oil. These

properties made the chemical ideal for commercial and consumer products, such as non-stick cookware. However, the strength of the carbon-fluorine bond, with a bond enthalpy of 485 kJ/mol, which is approximately 25 kcal/mol stronger than the C-C bond, created a heat stable compound, allowing PFAS to persist in the environment.¹⁶ Many PFAS are also resistant to acids, bases, and reductants due to their physical properties, which further contributes to the chemicals ability to persist in the environment, as well as demonstrating the useful nature of using PFAS in a variety of industrial processes. Moreover, these compounds can create aqueous film-forming foams, indicating the high surface activity of these compounds in aqueous solutions due to their aggregation at the air-water interface, creating foams and aerosolizing above the surface.¹⁶

1.4 Global Transport of Perfluoroalkyl substances via Sea Spray Aerosols

In the 2000's, PFAS was found in both the geographic area of production and within remote Arctic ecosystems.¹⁷ PFAS, most notably PFOA, was detected in water samples and tropospheric aerosols over the Greenland Sea, East Atlantic Ocean, and the Southern Ocean.¹⁸ There have been attempts to quantify PFAS concentrations in the troposphere in various locations; however, the PFAS concentrations are often below the instrumental limits of detection.¹⁷ PFAS have been measured in the blood plasma of polar bears in Norway at higher levels than detected in human blood samples, indicating the global spread and environmental ubiquity of PFAS.¹⁹ While PFAS can spread to different geographic areas in water and in the tissue of aquatic animals, the widespread distribution of these chemicals has led to several hypotheses of additional routes of transmission. In proxy sea spray aerosol experiments, it was found that PFAS are significantly enriched in sea-spray aerosol particles, where PFOA has enrichment factors greater than 10,000 when the SSA particles are smaller than 2.45 µm (Figure

3).²⁰ Moreover, a global simulation using the Norwegian Earth Simulation Model predicted that sea spray aerosols are partially responsible for the long-range contamination of PFAS across the world, as well as for reintroducing PFAS into terrestrial environments, mostly near coastal areas (Figure 4).²⁰ Understanding the mechanisms through which PFAS are enriched in the SSML and in SSA are imperative in determining their distribution through air, water, and biomass, as well as the risk of PFAS exposure to aquatic and coastal ecosystems and coastal communities.



Figure 3: Enrichment factors of PFAS as a function of SSA particle size. (Reproduced from Reference 20 - Published by The Royal Society of Chemistry).



Figure 4: Modeling results of (a) PFOA emissions due to SSA and (b) PFOA deposition onto land masses. (Reproduced from Reference 20 - Published by The Royal Society of Chemistry).

1.5 Objectives and Specific Aims

The primary goal of this project is to determine the surface activity of PFOA through surface-sensitive techniques. Understanding the enrichment of this surfactant at the air-water interface is imperative in obtaining foundational knowledge about pollutant enrichment at the SSML and in SSA. Utilizing a surface-sensitive spectroscopic method, such as Infrared Reflection-Absorption Spectroscopy (IRRAS), the surface adsorption of PFOA can be characterized in order to collect a foundational understanding of the mechanism of enrichment of PFOA at the SSML. Surface tension experiments will be conducted in tandem with the IRRAS experiments in order to determine the surface activity of PFOA. The samples tested will include Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ at ocean relevant concentrations, as well as a Neomarine solution to mimic seawater to determine if the cumulative interactions of molecules in seawater, instead of particular ions, affects the surface adsorption of PFOA and PFOS.

Chapter 2: Experimental Design

2.1 Solution Preparation

Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA, 96%, ACROS OrganicsTM, Fair Lawn, NJ, USA; Figure 5) was used as received to create a stock solution of 2 mM PFOA in ultrapure water with a resistivity of 18.2 MΩ•cm (Milli-Q Advantage A10, EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). The stock solution was then diluted to 1 mM, 200 µM, 20µM, and 2µM PFOA in ultrapure water or in aqueous saltwater solutions. NaCl (Sodium chloride, 99.5%, for biochemistry, ACROS Organics[™], Fair Lawn, NJ, USA) was baked at 650° C in a furnace (Fisher Scientific Isotemp[®] Muffle Furnace, Dubuque, IA, USA) for at least 10 h to remove residual organic impurities. The baked NaCl was dissolved in ultrapure water to prepare a 0.47 M NaCl subphase, or it was dissolved in the PFOA aqueous solutions. CaCl₂ (Calcium Chloride Dihydrate, Certified ACS, Fisher Chemical, Fair Lawn, NJ, USA) was used as received to prepare a 10 mM CaCl₂ solution in ultrapure water and in PFOA aqueous solutions. The pH of all NaCl, CaCl₂, and aqueous solutions were measured at 5.6 ± 0.2 due to acidification by atmospheric CO₂. Lastly, model seawater was prepared with NeoMarine (Brightwell Aquatics, Fort Payne, AL, USA) by adding 134.5g of NeoMarine reef salt per 3.785 L of ultrapure water (specific gravity of ~1.025 g/cm³, pH of ~8.30, and alkalinity of ~7.5 dKH). The NeoMarine solutions were filtered using 0.22 µm PTFE membrane syringe filters (Fisherbrand[™], Fair Lawn, NJ, USA) to remove insoluble particulates. PFOA aliquots were added to the filtered Neomarine solutions to create 2 mM, 1 mM, 200 µM, 20µM, and 2µM PFOA solutions in model seawater.



Figure 5: Chemical structure of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA).

2.2 Surface Tension Measurements

Surface tension experiments were conducted using a force tensiometer (Sigma 703D, Biolin Scientific, Espoo, Finland) and the Wilhelmy plate method (Figure 6). A platinum Wilhelmy plate was thoroughly cleaned with reagent alcohol (Histological Grade, Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ, USA) and ultrapure water, and the plate was fired with a Bunsen burner until red hot. Aqueous solution aliquots (10 mL) were poured into acid-cleaned borosilicate glass petri dishes, and the dishes were rinsed with ultrapure water and reagent alcohol between measurements using different solutions. The surface tension of water was measured prior to each set of surface tension measurements to ensure that the calibration of the instrument and the height of the subphase was correct. The Wilhelmy plate was wetted in the subphase and then lifted completely out of the aqueous solution and tared. Lastly the plate was lowered until it made contact with the subphase surface, and the plate height was maintained for all surface tension measurements with that subphase. PFOA aqueous solution surfaces were allowed to equilibrate for 2 minutes prior to recording the surface tension, and all measurements were repeated at least 5 times.



Figure 6: Schematic of the Wilhelmy plate method employed in the surface tension experiments.

2.3 Infrared Reflection Absorption Spectroscopy

Infrared-Reflection Absorption Spectroscopy (IRRAS; Figure 7) was used to characterize the surface activity of PFOA through a surface-sensitive spectroscopic method. To collect the IRRAS spectra, a Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectrometer (Spectrum 100, PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) with a liquid nitrogen-cooled HgCdTe (MCT) detector was used. The incident beam direction was modified by a planar, 2 inch gold mirror mounted to a breadboard inside the spectrometer with a 46° angle of incidence (relative to surface normal). The reflected light from the aqueous surface was then redirected toward the detector with a second gold mirror. The spectra were collected with unpolarized light in the single-beam mode as an average of 400 scans, and energy values were recorded every 0.5 cm⁻¹ between 450 and 4000 cm⁻¹. Spectra with a 4 cm⁻¹ resolution were plotted as reflectance-absorbance,

$$RA = -\log\left(\frac{R_m}{R_0}\right) \tag{2.1}$$

in which R_m is the reflectivity of the PFOA monolayer and R_0 is the reflectivity of the aqueous subphase without PFOA. Each experiment was repeated in triplicate and analyzed using Origin-Pro (OriginLab 9, Northhampton, MA, USA). For analysis of the C-F vibrational modes, the baseline was subtracted from each spectrum by fitting a line between endpoints 1118 and 1266.5 cm⁻¹. The baseline-subtracted spectra were averaged, and the error was plotted as one standard deviation (depicted as shading around the averaged spectrum).



Figure 7: Schematic of the infrared reflection-absorption spectroscopy (IRRAS) experiments.

Chapter 3: Results and Discussions

3.1 Surface Tensions Measurements of PFOA Adsorption

The principle goal of this project was to quantify the surface activity of PFOA at sea spray aerosol (SSA) proxy surfaces and to determine the effect of different seawater ions on the interfacial adsorption of PFOA. Surface tension measurements were conducted to quantify the surface activity of PFOA at the aqueous interface, and the surface tension data for each subphase were fit to the Szyszkowski equation (Figure 8):

$$\gamma = \gamma_0 \left[1 - a \times ln \left(\frac{c}{b} + 1 \right) \right]$$
(3.1)

in which γ is the surface tension of the PFOA solution, γ_0 is the surface tension of the aqueous subphase, *C* is the concentration of PFOA in bulk solution, *a* is a fitted parameter, and *b* is a fitted parameter corresponding to the PFOA surface activity. At low PFOA concentrations, the largest surface tension depression is observed in the Neomarine solution, showing that the complex mixture of salts in the Neomarine subphase has a significant affinity for the PFOA carboxylate headgroup. Consequently, the salts enhance the surface activity of PFOA in the low concentration regime. However, the 2 mM PFOA solution in 0.47 M NaCl exhibits the lowest surface tension, suggesting that Na⁺ at a seawater-relevant concentration leads to the largest PFOA interfacial concentration.



Figure 8: Surface tensions values of PFOA aqueous solutions fit to the Szyszkowski equation.

A quantitative analysis of PFOA surface activity can be conducted upon extracting the parameters from the Szyszkowski equation fits. A high surface activity of the surfactant shows that the PFOA molecules are enriched at the subphase interface, which is described by the fitted parameter *b* (Table 1). The surface activity of PFOA is the highest in the solutions with PFOA dissolved in H₂O, followed by the CaCl₂, NaCl, and Neomarine solutions. The surface activity of PFOA and H₂O is nearly two-fold higher than that of the CaCl₂ solutions with an R² value of 0.98, indicating a good fit of PFOA surface adsorption to the Szyszkowski equation.

Subphase	γ ₀ (mN/m)	a (Est. ± Error)	b (Est. ± Error)	R ²
H ₂ O	72.49 ± 0.34	0.217 ± 0.047	196.65 ± 86.68	0.98477
0.47 M NaCl	72.65 ± 0.09	0.106 ± 0.007	8.14 ± 1.28	0.99371
10 mM CaCl ₂	72.12 ± 0.17	0.139 ± 0.007	23.83 ± 3.37	0.99762
NeoMarine	73.75 ± 0.10	0.080 ± 0.004	2.02 ± 0.48	0.99696

Table 1: Values for the Langmuir-Szyszkowski Equation Fitted Parameters.

The Langmuir-Szyszkowski equation was then derived to determine the maximum surface excess Γ_{max} of PFOA on each subphase:

$$\Gamma = \frac{\gamma_0 a}{RT} \frac{C}{C+b}$$

$$\Gamma_{max} = \frac{\gamma_0 a}{RT}$$
(3.2)

where Γ is the surface excess as a function of surfactant concentration *C*, *R* is the gas constant, and *T* is the temperature. Surface excess is greater than 0 when the solute of interest is enriched at the interface, meaning that the solute is present in a larger concentration at the interface in comparison to the bulk. The PFOA and H₂O subphase has the highest Γ_{max} value, followed by the CaCl₂, NaCl, and Neomarine solutions; and PFOA is surface active on all subphase solutions (Table 2). This is the opposite trend observed by Costanza et al. in which the PFOA Γ_{max} value increased with increasing total dissolved solids (TDS).²¹ The origin of this discrepancy is found in the fitted parameter *a*, where our values decrease with increasing salt concentration. The *a* values calculated by Costanza et al. increase with the aqueous salt concentration, indicating that further investigation into the Szyszkowski equation fitting is required.

Subphase	Max. Surface Excess ($\mu mol/m^2$)
H ₂ O	6.42 ± 0.22
0.47 M NaCl	3.15 ± 0.07
10 mM <u>CaCl</u> ₂	4.09 ± 0.05
NeoMarine	2.40 ± 0.04

Table 2: Values for the Langmuir-Szyszkowski Surface Excess Calculations.

3.2 IRRAS of PFOA Adsorption at Proxy SSA Surfaces

While surface tension measurements yield a quantitative analysis of PFOA adsorption to proxy SSA surfaces, surface tension does not provide any molecule-specific information. Infrared reflection-absorption spectroscopy (IRRAS) allows for the collection of surfacesensitive infrared spectra by resonantly enhancing the vibrational modes of the chemical bonds of compounds on the surface of the aqueous subphase with infrared radiation.²² This provides a molecular fingerprint of the proxy SSA surface because the bonds absorb different wavelengths of infrared radiation depending upon their unique chemical environments. The chemical bonds of interest are the C-F bonds which have three distinctive peaks: a CF₂ symmetric stretch at 1150 cm⁻¹, a CF₂ asymmetric stretch at 1210 cm⁻¹, and a CF₃ asymmetric stretch at 1245 cm^{-1,23} The IRRAS experiments used the same PFOA concentration range as studied in the surface tension experiments (Section 3.1). Moreover, solutions with different oceanic-relevant metal cations were also used to determine if the presence of these cations affected the surfactant activity of PFOA at proxy SSA surfaces.

Figure 9 shows the IRRAS spectra of PFOA on H_2O . The magnitude of the intensity of the CF₂ asymmetric, CF₂ symmetric, and CF₃ asymmetric stretch are the greatest for the high concentration regime of PFOA on H_2O . However, the C-F peaks cannot be resolved for the 2

 μ M, 20 μ M and 200 μ M PFOA solutions. Figure 10 is the IRRAS spectra of PFOA on 0.47 M NaCl. The C-F peaks are not as intense as that of PFOA and H₂O; however, it is important to note that the C-F peaks are resolvable for all concentrations tested, indicating that NaCl increases the PFOA surface activity at low PFOA concentrations. Figure 11 shows the IRRAS spectra of PFOA on 10mM CaCl₂. Here, all PFOA concentrations are resolvable, although the 2 μ M PFOA sample has very low intensity. Figure 12 is the IRRAS spectra of PFOA on a Neomarine aqueous subphase. The 1 mM and 2 mM PFOA solutions have similar peak intensities for each of the C-F peaks, indicating that the PFOA solution is near the critical micelle concentration (CMC).



Figure 9: IRRAS spectra of PFOA on H₂O.



Figure 10: IRRAS spectra of PFOA on 0.47 M NaCl.



Figure 11: IRRAS Spectra of PFOA on 10 mM CaCl₂.



Figure 12: IRRAS Spectra of PFOA on the Neomarine aqueous subphase.

The IRRAS spectra of PFOA interfacial adsorption suggests that there is a change in thermodynamic surface activity and intermolecular interactions between the different aqueous subphases and the PFOA molecules. At each C-F peak, there is a shift in the center wavelength as a function of PFOA concentration. As the concentration increases, the wavenumber shifts towards a lower value, showing that there is a red-shift occurring at the air-water interface. Thus, as the concentration of PFOA increases, the intermolecular interactions between PFOA surfactants at the air-water interface increase due to the reduced interfacial area at high surface densities. Consequently, the C-F chemical bonds absorb infrared radiation at lower frequencies.

Figure 13 shows the shifts in wavenumber from the center wavelength of the CF_2 symmetric stretch. Because the 2 μ M, 20 μ M, and 200 μ M PFOA solutions on H₂O are not

resolvable for the CF₂ symmetric stretch, only the 1 mM and 2 mM PFOA spectra on H₂O are included in this analysis. The 200 μ M PFOA spectrum on H₂O is resolvable for the CF₂ asymmetric and CF₃ asymmetric peaks, so those are later analyzed. Here, the PFOA on Neomarine aqueous subphase exhibited the largest wavenumber shift as a function of concentration from approximately 1154 cm⁻¹ in the 2 μ M PFOA spectrum to approximately 1150.5 cm⁻¹ in the 2 mM PFOA spectrum. This suggests that the Neomarine aqueous subphase facilitated the greatest rearrangement of PFOA molecules at the air-water interface into a more favorable conformation.



Figure 13: Graph of the wavenumber shift in the CF₂ symmetric peak.

The wavenumber shifts of the PFOA CF_2 asymmetric peak are found in Figure 14, where the 200 μ M, 1 mM and 2 mM PFOA spectra on H₂O deviate significantly from the saltwater subphases. While the lower concentrations in this series cannot be analyzed, PFOA on water exhibits a strong change in intermolecular packing at the air-water interface between 1 mM and 2 mM PFOA. The center wavelength shifts of the PFOA CF₂ asymmetric peak on saltwater subphases exhibit similar trends, with the Neomarine subphase causing the largest red-shift. Figure 15 shows the wavenumber shifts in the CF₃ asymmetric stretch. The wavenumber shifts between 200 μ M and 2 mM PFOA are large in magnitude and approximately the same for the H₂O, NaCl, and CaCl₂ subphases. The Neomarine subphase exhibits the smallest magnitude red-shift in this concentration regime. This is possibly because the Neomarine salts induce PFOA reorganization at the air-water interface at lower surfactant concentrations due to the increased surface activity.



Figure 14: Graph of the wavenumber shift in the CF₂ asymmetric peak.



Figure 15: Graph of the wavenumber shift in the CF₃ asymmetric peak.

It is evident that the higher concentration regimes, $200 \ \mu\text{M} - 2 \ \text{mM}$ PFOA, lead to the greatest reorganization of PFOA molecules at the air-water interface, as shown in the -CF₃ vibrational modes of the PFOA molecules. The CF₂ symmetric stretch and the CF₂ asymmetric stretch are the most sensitive to changes in interfacial organization in the lower concentration regimes, with the exception of the CF₂ asymmetric stretch of PFOA adsorbed on H₂O. Moreover, a full monolayer of PFOA molecules is likely forming at the air-water interface at the 2 mM concentration. The rearrangement of PFOA molecules as a function of bulk concentration on proxy sea spray aerosol surfaces shows that these molecules are highly surface active and that their interfacial packing on SSA varies based on the composition of the aqueous system. It is imperative to be able to define the interfacial characteristics of PFOA on aqueous subphases in

order to better understand how the pollutant behaves in aqueous systems and can be taken up into SSA particles, thereby travelling to pollute other areas.

3.3 Langmuir- Szyszkowski Adsorption Modeling

To extract quantitative surface activity values from the IRRAS spectra, a Langmuir adsorption model is used to fit the integrated area of the IRRAS PFOA C-F peaks:

$$I = I_{max} \frac{c}{c+b} \tag{3.3}$$

in which *I* is the integrated area of the PFOA solution, I_{max} is the maximum integrated area of all PFOA solutions, *C* is the PFOA bulk concentration, and *b* is the fitted parameter corresponding to surface activity. Figure 16 shows the Langmuir equation fits to the IRRAS integrated C-F peak area for each subphase, and Table 3 summarizes the surface activity values of the Langmuir fits in comparison to the surface tension Szyszkowski equation surface activity values. The low R² values of the Langmuir equation fits indicate that the IRRAS integrated peak areas of the PFOA C-F peaks do not fit an ideal Langmuir adsorption isotherm model. Hence, the IRRAS spectra are likely probing a different physical entity than the surface tension measurements. Qualitatively, the H₂O subphase exhibits the greatest PFOA surface activity, followed by NaCl, CaCl₂, and Neomarine aqueous subphases. Further experiments and modeling must be conducted to understand the differences between the two experimental techniques.



Figure 16: Integrated IRRAS C-F peak area of PFOA fitted to a Langmuir model.

Table 3: Surface Activity Values for IRRAS Langmuir Equation Fits and Surface Tensi	ion
Szyszkowski Equation Fits.	

	IRRAS Fitted Parameters		Surface Tension Fitted Parameters	
Subphase	Surface Activity, b	R ²	Surface Activity, b	R ²
H ₂ O	405.0 ± 366.1	0.59655	196.65 ± 86.68	0.98477
0.47 M NaCl	127.3±111.6	0.62244	8.14 ± 1.28	0.99371
10 mM CaCl_2	10.9 ± 6.6	0.85559	23.83 ± 3.37	0.99762
Neomarine	6.0 ± 1.2	0.93910	2.02 ± 0.48	0.99696

Chapter 4: Public Health Implications

4.1 **Overview of Health Effects**

Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are ubiquitous in modern life; they are found in nonstick cookware, drinking water, upholstery, and house dust.²⁴ The United States National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) in 2011 and 2012 found that 97% of individuals had detectable amounts of perfluoroalkyl compounds in their serum.²⁵ Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS) was phased out of industrial production in the United States in the early 2000's; however, it is still used in flame retardants, upholstery, and other consumer goods.²⁶ Exposure to PFAS represents risks for every person, including professional skiers through occupational exposure, and in children that are experiencing a decrease in serum vaccine antibody concentrations from exposure to PFAS.^{27,28} Furthermore, perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and PFOS are environmentally persistent molecules, deemed "forever chemicals," and their presence is still concentrated in water systems and soil where the chemicals were dumped as waste.²⁹ The half-lives of PFOA and PFOS in humans have been determined to be approximately 3.8 and 5.4 years, respectively.³⁰ Current measurements of PFOA and PFOS in human serum are indicative of long-term environmental exposure and long half-lives of these chemicals in humans. Thus, the physiological effects due to acute and chronic exposure need to be characterized in order to understand the cumulative adverse health effects from PFAS for children, adults, and those who are at risk of occupational exposure.

4.2 Perfluoroalkyl Substances Effects on Human Health

The accumulation of PFAS in human serum appears to vary based on a variety of factors that are not yet understood, such as gender. A study that evaluated human serum from Red Cross Blood Banks also found that men had a higher geometric mean of PFOA and PFOS in their

29

serum; however the data showed that age did not have a significant impact on the concentration of PFOA or PFOS in their human serum samples.³¹ It is unknown currently whether humans can metabolize larger perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) into PFOA or PFOS, and if so, if there are any toxic byproducts of such a reaction. However, the geometric average of PFOS in human serum samples was approximately 34.9 parts per billion, ranging from 4.1 parts per billion to 1656 parts per billion.³¹ The occupational hazard of PFAS can be seen in the abnormally high concentrations of PFOA and PFOS in the blood samples of those that work in factories that use these chemicals, and those that live near the factories.

Moreover, a study that analyzed NHANES data from 1999-2000, 2003-2004, and 2005-2006 found that there is an association between thyroid disease in women and their serum levels of PFOA, most notably with women that were being treated for thyroid disease at the time of the sample.³² While there are several animal studies that show a link between exposure to PFAS and the disruption of thyroid hormones, the epidemiological human studies show various outcomes of the association between PFAS exposure and thyroid hormones. There is evidence that PFOS can act as a competitor to thyroxine by competitively binding to the human thyroid hormone transport protein transthyretin.³³ This type of competitive inhibition could be an explanation for the abnormal thyroid hormone levels seen in animal studies and can also be used to explain the ability of PFAS to bioaccumulate in humans.

One of the target organs for toxicity of PFOS is the liver. The liver has been shown to be a large source of PFOS bioaccumulation, where PFOS has altered the ability of the liver cells to metabolize lipids which can lead to oxidative stress and can impact the cell cycle.³⁴ PFOS can also cause neurotoxicity by altering calcium ion channels, causing neuroinflammation, and altering physical characteristics of synapses, such as plasticity and shape.³⁴ PFOA has been found

30

to induce weight gain in rats in a dose-dependent manner, to affect the morphology of the kidney, and to cause discoloration and increases in mass of the liver.³⁵ Furthermore, cancer risks for humans have been studied in accordance with the C8 Health Project, where a large scale epidemiological study concluded that there was an association between those that were chronically exposed to high concentrations of PFAS, such as those living near a facility that creates or uses the chemicals, and testicular and kidney cancer.³⁶

There is a multitude of evidence to show that pregnant women and young children are especially at risk for adverse health effects if exposed to PFAS. The most common route of exposure to PFAS is ingestion of contaminated water, and there is also evidence showing that PFAS, specifically PFOA, can pass the placental barrier with little hindrance, thus exposing an unborn child to PFOA.³⁷ In early life, human serum levels of PFOA are found to be nearly 40% higher than PFOA serum levels in adults due to the ability of PFOA to cross the placenta, along with the combined exposure of contaminated breastmilk and water.³⁸ Additionally, PFOA levels in the serum of pregnant women were found to be directly proportional to BMI and a larger waist circumference.³⁹ Moreover, animal studies indicate that prenatal exposure to PFOS reduced the survival of mice in a dose-dependent manner; and those that survived had a low body weight, hypothyroxinemia, low levels of thyroxine, and neurodevelopmental effects.⁴⁰ PFAS exposure to neonates has also been shown to impact the development of the fetal liver by extensively altering genes related to lipid catabolism and overall lipid homeostasis.⁴¹ The effects of PFAS on human health are transgenerational; neonates are exposed through placental barrier transfers, breast milk, and the water they drink. The additive exposure of several species of PFAS and their cumulative health effects need to be better characterized to understand the burden these

chemicals have on human morbidity. Consequently, PFAS have been listed as persistent organic pollutants under the Stockholm Convention.

4.3 **Routes of Exposure**

Humans are exposed to PFAS through adsorption, ingestion and inhalation pathways. Because these chemicals are ubiquitous in the environment, they have contaminated numerous water sources all over the world. Perfluoroalkyl compounds have also been found in household dust and dryer lint, which disproportionately affects children because they not only inhale these particles, but they also ingest them through playing with dusty toys and on the floor.⁴² PFAS can also travel throughout the troposphere and have been hypothesized to be able to remain in the troposphere for up to 20 days, thus showing how the chemicals can move long distances in a heterogenous fashion.⁴³

While humans and other organisms can be exposed to PFAS at a large geographic distances from the contamination, adsorption and ingestion at the source of the contamination is also a common mechanism of exposure. The use of PFAS in the food industry has infiltrated individual homes through the use of Teflon cookware and the restaurant industry with non-stick technology and food packaging.²⁴ PFAS can contaminate many food products, especially animal products such as beef and fish products, where PFOS and PFOA are the dominant contaminants.⁴⁴ Fish, in particular, are a source of PFAS exposure for many humans and are expected to continue to remain so as water systems are polluted with PFAS which bioaccumulate in aquatic life.^{44,45} A pharmacokinetic model was used to determine that exposure to PFAS in most of the population is through dietary intake; however, for those that live near a site contaminated with PFAS, ingestion of drinking water leads to the highest exposure rate of PFAS.⁴⁶

32

A study from 2016 found that water supplies for over 6 million American residents were contaminated with PFOA and PFOS at a concentration that exceeded the EPA's health advisory limit of 70 parts per trillion, thus showing the health risks that are persisting due to the continued use of these compounds.⁴⁷ Here, studies have been conducted to determine the risk of exposure to PFASs, and PFOA or PFOS were found in blood samples from 97% of the individuals that were tested.⁴⁸ The C8 Health Project assessed the exposure of PFOA to residents that lived near a fluoropolymer facility in Ohio and West Virginia. Here, it was determined that the water systems became contaminated with PFOA and those that used a private well had a serum PFOA concentration that was 20% higher than the national average.⁴⁹ There was a 141.5 µg/L increase in the concentration of serum PFOA levels for every 1.0 µg/L increase of PFOA in the drinking water.⁴⁹ Ingestion of contaminated water continues to be a significant source of PFAS exposure; and while the EPA has a recommended limit of 70 parts per billion of PFAS in drinking water, this is not an enforceable or mandatory limit, so many Americans remain at risk of exposure.

4.4 Aerosolization of Perfluoroalkyl Substances Effect on Lung Function

Inhaling PFAS can have a variety of health effects, such as inducing asthma in those that are exposed at a young age, increasing airway inflammation, and affecting the overall function of the airway.⁵⁰ PFAS also affects the function of lung surfactants, the induction of chemokines and cytokines in an immune response, and lung macrophages, a phagocytic immune cell, through the inhalation of PFAS, as well as PFAS that are circulating in the body.^{51,52} In an experiment that fluorescently labelled PFOS and introduced it into mice through food and injection, it was found that PFOS accumulated in lung tissue and in unborn mice pups; and early deaths of the pups was attributed to damage in lung development.⁵³ PFOA has also been found to have an effect on the lung development in fetal mice by altering the genes necessary for lung development in a dose-

dependent manner during fetal development, most of which were involved in lipid homeostasis.⁴⁰ It has been hypothesized that PFOA and PFOS can affect the ability of alveolar type II cells to create pulmonary surfactant, thus leading to a variety of lung and respiratory issues.³⁵ A thorough understanding of the adverse health effects that can occur in human lungs due to inhalation of PFAS, as well as prenatal exposure, is imperative in creating a risk assessment for these chemicals. Moreover, because PFAS can be transported globally through sea spray aerosols (SSA) and can be deposited onto terrestrial coastlines, it is imperative to study these health effects and the additional burden that can be placed on humans and animals living near the coasts.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

5.1 Conclusion

Seawater cations have a significant effect on the interfacial surface adsorption of PFOA. Characterizing the surface activity of PFOA is imperative in understanding the enrichment of this surfactant in the sea surface microlayer (SSML) and in sea spray aerosols (SSA). In the presence of seawater cations, the low concentration regime of PFOA exhibits enhanced surface activity, whereas the high concentration regime of PFOA exhibits decreased surface activity. It is believed that the presence of the seawater cations is inducing a change in the critical micelle concentration of PFOA, thus in the higher concentrations on PFOA, the surfactant molecules are forming micelles and pulling away from the surface leading to the observed decrease in surface activity. This finding is important in understanding the pollutant nature of PFOA and its ability to be enriched at the SSML in low pollutant concentrations.

Since PFOA is enriched at the SSML and can be aerosolized, those that live in coastal communities are at risk of chronic exposure to PFOA due to the terrestrial dump of SSA. Moreover, it is possible that PFOA pollutants in other water systems can be aerosolized and travel to different geographic areas. This is a public health risk due to the plethora of adverse health effects that can be caused by chronic exposure to PFOA, as well as acute exposure. Moreover, as sea levels rise and runoff increases, it is important to understand how PFOA will be enriched or interact with other organic and biological matter at the air-water interface and the effects that can have on human health.

5.2 Future Directions

Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS) is also a common perfluoroalkyl substance (PFAS) that has polluted waterways and has been shown to have adverse effects on human health. We aim to characterize the surface activity of PFOS through infrared reflection absorption spectroscopy (IRRAS) and surface tension through identical experimentation as was done with PFOA. The use of Brewster Angle Microscopy (BAM) will also be utilized in order to view the 2-dimensional packing structure of the PFOA and PFOS monolayer and how that interfacial packing structure changes in response to seawater cations. Moreover, we aim to determine the impacts of other dissolved organic compounds on the interfacial activity of PFOA and PFOS at SSA proxy surfaces through IRRAS and surface tension experiments.

REFERENCES

- Engel, A.; Bange, H. W.; Cunliffe, M.; Burrows, S. M.; Friedrichs, G.; Galgani, L.; Herrmann, H.; Hertkorn, N.; Johnson, M.; Liss, P. S.; Quinn, P. K.; Schartau, M.; Soloviev, A.; Stolle, C.; Upstill-Goddard, R. C.; van Pinxteren, M.; Zäncker, B. The Ocean's Vital Skin: Toward an Integrated Understanding of the Sea Surface Microlayer. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 2017, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00165.
- Galgani, L.; Stolle, C.; Endres, S.; Schulz, K. G.; Engel, A. Effects of Ocean Acidification on the Biogenic Composition of the Sea-Surface Microlayer: Results from a Mesocosm Study. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans* 2014, *119* (11), 7911– 7924. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JC010188.
- 3. Spiel, D. E.; De Leeuw, G. Formation and Production of Sea Spray Aerosol. 1996.
- Vignati, E.; Facchini, M. C.; Rinaldi, M.; Scannell, C.; Ceburnis, D.; Sciare, J.; Kanakidou, M.; Myriokefalitakis, S.; Dentener, F.; O'Dowd, C. D. Global Scale Emission and Distribution of Sea-Spray Aerosol: Sea-Salt and Organic Enrichment. *Atmospheric Environment* 2010, 44 (5), 670–677.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2009.11.013.

- Wang, X.; Deane, G. B.; Moore, K. A.; Ryder, O. S.; Stokes, M. D.; Beall, C. M.; Collins, D. B.; Santander, M. V.; Burrows, S. M.; Sultana, C. M.; Prather, K. A. The Role of Jet and Film Drops in Controlling the Mixing State of Submicron Sea Spray Aerosol Particles. *PNAS* 2017, *114* (27), 6978–6983. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1702420114.
- Schmitt-Kopplin, P.; Liger-Belair, G.; Koch, B. P.; Flerus, R.; Kattner, G.; Harir, M.; Kanawati, B.; Lucio, M.; Tziotis, D.; Hertkorn, N.; Gebefügi, I. Dissolved Organic

Matter in Sea Spray: A Transfer Study from Marine Surface Water to Aerosols. *Biogeosciences* **2012**, *9* (4), 1571–1582. https://doi.org/<u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-</u> <u>1571-2012</u>.

- Schmitt-Kopplin, P.; Liger-Belair, G.; Koch, B. P.; Flerus, R.; Kattner, G.; Harir, M.; Kanawati, B.; Lucio, M.; Tziotis, D.; Hertkorn, N.; Gebefügi, I. Dissolved Organic Matter in Sea Spray: A Transfer Study from Marine Surface Water to Aerosols. *Biogeosciences* 2012, 9 (4), 1571–1582. https://doi.org/<u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-1571-2012</u>.
- Cochran, R. E.; Laskina, O.; Jayarathne, T.; Laskin, A.; Laskin, J.; Lin, P.; Sultana, C.; Lee, C.; Moore, K. A.; Cappa, C. D.; Bertram, T. H.; Prather, K. A.; Grassian, V. H.; Stone, E. A. Analysis of Organic Anionic Surfactants in Fine and Coarse Fractions of Freshly Emitted Sea Spray Aerosol. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2016, *50* (5), 2477–2486. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b04053.
- US EPA, O. Fact Sheet: 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/fact-sheet-</u> <u>20102015-pfoa-stewardship-program</u> (accessed Mar 28, 2020).
- Liu, J.; Mejia Avendaño, S. Microbial Degradation of Polyfluoroalkyl Chemicals in the Environment: A Review. *Environ. Int.* 2013, *61*, 98–114.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.08.022</u>.
- Clara, M.; Scharf, S.; Weiss, S.; Gans, O.; Scheffknecht, C. Emissions of Perfluorinated Alkylated Substances (PFAS) from Point Sources—Identification of Relevant Branches. *Water Sci. Technol.* 2008, 58 (1), 59–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2008.641</u>.

- Reinhardt, M.; Kozel, R.; Rupp, H.; Zoller, O.; Hoehn, E. Perfluorinated Chemicals in Swiss Groundwaters – Results of the National Groundwater Monitoring NAQUA. 2010. <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.3451.7124</u>.
- Knutsen, H.; Mæhlum, T.; Haarstad, K.; Slinde, G. A.; Arp, H. P. H. Leachate Emissions of Short- and Long-Chain per- and Polyfluoralkyl Substances (PFASs) from Various Norwegian Landfills. *Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts* 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C9EM00170K</u>.
- 14. Ju, X.; Jin, Y.; Sasaki, K.; Saito, N. Perfluorinated Surfactants in Surface, Subsurface Water and Microlayer from Dalian Coastal Waters in China. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2008, 42 (10), 3538–3542. https://doi.org/10.1021/es703006d.
- Vierke, L.; Staude, C.; Biegel-Engler, A.; Drost, W.; Schulte, C. Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) — Main Concerns and Regulatory Developments in Europe from an Environmental Point of View. *Environmental Sciences Europe* 2012, 24 (1). https://doi.org/<u>10.1186/2190-4715-24-16</u>.
- Moody, C. A.; Field, J. A. Perfluorinated Surfactants and the Environmental Implications of Their Use in Fire-Fighting Foams. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2000, *34* (18), 3864–3870. https://doi.org/10.1021/es991359u.
- 17. Muir, D.; Bossi, R.; Carlsson, P.; Evans, M.; De Silva, A.; Halsall, C.; Rauert, C.; Herzke, D.; Hung, H.; Letcher, R.; Rigét, F.; Roos, A. Levels and Trends of Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances in the Arctic Environment An Update. *Emerging Contaminants* 2019, *5*, 240–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emcon.2019.06.002.
- 18. Zhao, Z.; Xie, Z.; Möller, A.; Sturm, R.; Tang, J.; Zhang, G.; Ebinghaus, R. Distribution and Long-Range Transport of Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Arctic, Atlantic Ocean

and Antarctic Coast. *Environmental Pollution* **2012**, *170*, 71–77. https://doi.org/<u>10.1016/j.envpol.2012.06.004</u>.

 Bytingsvik, J.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J.; Hamers, T.; Swart, K.; Aars, J.; Lie, E.; Nilsen, E. M. E.; Wiig, Ø.; Derocher, A. E.; Jenssen, B. M. Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Polar Bear Mother–Cub Pairs: A Comparative Study Based on Plasma Levels from 1998 and 2008. *Environment International* 2012, *49*, 92–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.08.004.

 Johansson, J. H.; Salter, M. E.; Navarro, J. C. A.; Leck, C.; Nilsson, E. D.; Cousins, I. T. Global Transport of Perfluoroalkyl Acids via Sea Spray Aerosol. *Environ. Sci.: Processes Impacts* 2019, 21 (4), 635–649. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8EM00525G.

- 21. Costanza, J.; Arshadi, M.; Abriola, L. M.; Pennell, K. D. Accumulation of PFOA and PFOS at the Air–Water Interface. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* **2019**, *6* (8), 487–491. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00355.
- Mendelsohn, R.; Mao, G.; Flach, C. R. Infrared Reflection–Absorption Spectroscopy: Principles and Applications to Lipid–Protein Interaction in Langmuir Films. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Biomembr.* 2010, *1798* (4), 788–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2009.11.024.
- 23. Infrared Spectroscopy of Bis[(perfluoroalkyl)sulfonyl] Imide Ionomer Membrane Materials. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B

https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/jp900164x (accessed Apr 6, 2020).

24. Sunderland, E. M.; Hu, X. C.; Dassuncao, C.; Tokranov, A. K.; Wagner, C. C.; Allen, J. G. A Review of the Pathways of Human Exposure to Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) and Present Understanding of Health Effects. *Journal of Exposure*

Science & Environmental Epidemiology **2019**, *29* (2), 131–147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-018-0094-1.

- 25. Lewis, R. C.; Johns, L. E.; Meeker, J. D. Serum Biomarkers of Exposure to Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Relation to Serum Testosterone and Measures of Thyroid Function among Adults and Adolescents from NHANES 2011–2012. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2015, *12* (6), 6098–6114. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120606098.
- 26. Liu, J.; Mejia Avendaño, S. Microbial Degradation of Polyfluoroalkyl Chemicals in the Environment: A Review. *Environ. Int.* 2013, 61, 98–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.08.022</u>.
- Nilsson, H.; Kärrman, A.; Rotander, A.; Bavel, B. van; Lindström, G.; Westberg, H. Professional Ski Waxers' Exposure to PFAS and Aerosol Concentrations in Gas Phase and Different Particle Size Fractions. *Environ. Sci.: Processes Impacts* 2013, *15* (4), 814– 822. https://doi.org/<u>10.1039/C3EM30739E</u>.
- 28.Grandjean, P.; Andersen, E. W.; Budtz-Jørgensen, E.; Nielsen, F.; Mølbak, K.; Weihe, P.; Heilmann, C. Serum Vaccine Antibody Concentrations in Children Exposed to Perfluorinated Compounds. *JAMA* 2012, *307* (4), 391–397. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2011.2034.
- Zareitalabad, P.; Siemens, J.; Hamer, M.; Amelung, W. Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Perfluorooctanesulfonic Acid (PFOS) in Surface Waters, Sediments, Soils and Wastewater – A Review on Concentrations and Distribution Coefficients. *Chemosphere* 2013, *91* (6), 725–732. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.02.024</u>.

- Lau, C.; Anitole, K.; Hodes, C.; Lai, D.; Pfahles-Hutchens, A.; Seed, J. Perfluoroalkyl Acids: A Review of Monitoring and Toxicological Findings. *Toxicol. Sci.* 2007, 99 (2), 366–394. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm128.
- 31. Olsen Geary W; Church Timothy R; Miller John P; Burris Jean M; Hansen Kristen J; Lundberg James K; Armitage John B; Herron Ross M; Medhdizadehkashi Zahra; Nobiletti John B; O'Neill E Mary; Mandel Jeffrey H; Zobel Larry R.
 Perfluorooctanesulfonate and Other Fluorochemicals in the Serum of American Red Cross Adult Blood Donors. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2003, *111* (16), 1892– 1901. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.6316.
- 32. Melzer David; Rice Neil; Depledge Michael H.; Henley William E.; Galloway Tamara S. Association between Serum Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Thyroid Disease in the U.S. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2010, *118* (5), 686–692. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0901584.
- Weiss, J. M.; Andersson, P. L.; Lamoree, M. H.; Leonards, P. E. G.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J.; Hamers, T. Competitive Binding of Poly- and Perfluorinated Compounds to the Thyroid Hormone Transport Protein Transthyretin. *Toxicological Sciences* 2009, *109* (2), 206–216. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfp055.
- 34. Zeng, Z.; Song, B.; Xiao, R.; Zeng, G.; Gong, J.; Chen, M.; Xu, P.; Zhang, P.; Shen, M.;
 Yi, H. Assessing the Human Health Risks of Perfluorooctane Sulfonate by in Vivo and in Vitro Studies. *Environment International* 2019, *126*, 598–610.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.03.002.
- 35. Cui, L.; Zhou, Q.; Liao, C.; Fu, J.; Jiang, G. Studies on the Toxicological Effects of PFOA and PFOS on Rats Using Histological Observation and Chemical Analysis. *Arch.*

Environ. Contam. Toxicol. **2009**, *56* (2), 338–349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-008-</u> <u>9194-6</u>.

- 36. Nicole, W. PFOA and Cancer in a Highly Exposed Community: New Findings from the C8 Science Panel. *Environ Health Perspect* 2013, *121* (11–12), A340. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.121-A340.
- Midasch, O.; Drexler, H.; Hart, N.; Beckmann, M. W.; Angerer, J. Transplacental Exposure of Neonates to Perfluorooctanesulfonate and Perfluorooctanoate: A Pilot Study. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2007, 80 (7), 643–648. https://doi.org/<u>10.1007/s00420-006-0165-9</u>.
- Goeden, H. M.; Greene, C. W.; Jacobus, J. A. A Transgenerational Toxicokinetic Model and Its Use in Derivation of Minnesota PFOA Water Guidance. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology* 2019, 29 (2), 183–195. https://doi.org/<u>10.1038/s41370-018-0110-5</u>.
- Braun, J. M.; Chen, A.; Romano, M. E.; Calafat, A. M.; Webster, G. M.; Yolton, K.; Lanphear, B. P. Prenatal Perfluoroalkyl Substance Exposure and Child Adiposity at 8 Years of Age: The HOME Study. *Obesity* 2016, *24* (1), 231–237. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21258.
- 40. Lau, C.; Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Grey, B. E.; Stanton, M. E.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Stevenson, L. A. Exposure to Perfluorooctane Sulfonate during Pregnancy in Rat and Mouse. II: Postnatal Evaluation. *Toxicological Sciences* 2003, 74 (2), 382–392. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg122.

- Rosen, M. B.; Thibodeaux, J. R.; Wood, C. R.; Zehr, R. D.; Schmid, J. E.; Lau, C. Gene Expression Profiling in the Lung and Liver of PFOA-Exposed Mouse Fetuses. *Toxicology* 2007, 239 (1), 15–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2007.06.095.
- 42. Shoeib, M.; Harner, T.; M. Webster, G.; Lee, S. C. Indoor Sources of Poly- and Perfluorinated Compounds (PFCS) in Vancouver, Canada: Implications for Human Exposure. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45 (19), 7999–8005. https://doi.org/10.1021/es103562v.
- 43. Stock, N. L.; Lau, F. K.; Ellis, D. A.; Martin, J. W.; Muir, D. C. G.; Mabury, S. A. Polyfluorinated Telomer Alcohols and Sulfonamides in the North American Troposphere. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38* (4), 991–996. https://doi.org/10.1021/es034644t.
- 44. Tittlemier, S. A.; Pepper, K.; Seymour, C.; Moisey, J.; Bronson, R.; Cao, X.-L.; Dabeka, R. W. Dietary Exposure of Canadians to Perfluorinated Carboxylates and Perfluorooctane Sulfonate via Consumption of Meat, Fish, Fast Foods, and Food Items Prepared in Their Packaging. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2007, *55* (8), 3203–3210. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0634045.
- 45. Falandysz, J.; Taniyasu, S.; Gulkowska, A.; Yamashita, N.; Schulte-Oehlmann, U. Is Fish a Major Source of Fluorinated Surfactants and Repellents in Humans Living on the Baltic Coast? *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2006, *40* (3), 748–751. https://doi.org/10.1021/es051799n.
- 46. Vestergren, R.; Cousins, I. T. Tracking the Pathways of Human Exposure to Perfluorocarboxylates. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, *43* (15), 5565–5575. https://doi.org/10.1021/es900228k.

- 47. Liu, J.; Mejia Avendaño, S. Microbial Degradation of Polyfluoroalkyl Chemicals in the Environment: A Review. *Environ. Int.* 2013, *61*, 98–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.08.022.
- 48. Hu, X. C.; Andrews, D. Q.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Bruton, T. A.; Schaider, L. A.; Grandjean, P.; Lohmann, R.; Carignan, C. C.; Blum, A.; Balan, S. A.; et al. Detection of Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in U.S. Drinking Water Linked to Industrial Sites, Military Fire Training Areas, and Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* 2016, *3* (10), 344–350. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.6b00260.
- 49. {Citation} Kate; Webster Thomas F.; Bartell Scott M.; Weisskopf Marc G.; Fletcher Tony; Vieira Verónica M. Private Drinking Water Wells as a Source of Exposure to Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) in Communities Surrounding a Fluoropolymer Production Facility. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2011, *119* (1), 92–97. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002503.
- Ryu, M. H.; Jha, A.; Ojo, O. O.; Mahood, T. H.; Basu, S.; Detillieux, K. A.; Nikoobakht, N.; Wong, C. S.; Loewen, M.; Becker, A. B.; Halayko, A. J. Chronic Exposure to Perfluorinated Compounds: Impact on Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Inflammation. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 2014, 307 (10), L765–L774. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00100.2014.
- 51. Sørli, J. B.; Låg, M.; Ekeren, L.; Perez-Gil, J.; Haug, L. S.; Da Silva, E.; Matrod, M. N.; Gützkow, K. B.; Lindeman, B. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) Modify Lung Surfactant Function and pro-Inflammatory Responses in Human Bronchial

Epithelial Cells. *Toxicology in Vitro* **2020**, *62*, 104656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2019.104656.

- 52. Ryu, M. H.; Jha, A.; Ojo, O. O.; Mahood, T. H.; Basu, S.; Detillieux, K. A.; Nikoobakht, N.; Wong, C. S.; Loewen, M.; Becker, A. B.; Halayko, A. J. Chronic Exposure to Perfluorinated Compounds: Impact on Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Inflammation. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* **2014**, *307* (10), L765–L774. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00100.2014.
- 53. Borg, D.; Bogdanska, J.; Sundström, M.; Nobel, S.; Håkansson, H.; Bergman, Å.; DePierre, J. W.; Halldin, K.; Bergström, U. Tissue Distribution of 35S-Labelled Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS) in C57Bl/6 Mice Following Late Gestational Exposure. *Reproductive Toxicology* **2010**, *30* (4), 558–565. https://doi.org/<u>10.1016/j.reprotox.2010.07.004</u>.